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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA
Jerry Kachlic, No. CV-12-1111-PHX-JAT
Plaintiff, ORDER
V.

Bursey & Assoc., E.; Barry Bursey;
Seidberg Law Offices, P.C.; Joseph
Whipple; Kenneth Seidberg; Joh
Ingraham; Citibank, N.A.,

ST

Defendats.

Pending before the Court are three i to dismiss Plaiiif’'s First Amended
Complaint and one motion for summary digpos. (Docs. 34, 35, 36, and 39). Th
motions to dismiss were fileoly: Bursey & Associates, P.@nd Barry Bursey (“Bursey
Defendants”), (Doc. 36)Seidberg Law Officg, P.C., Kenneth WSeidberg, Joseph L.
Whipple, and Jon Ingraham (“Seidbergf@wants”), (Doc. 34)and Citibank, N.A.
(“Citibank”), (Doc. 35). Tle Bursey Defendants fide the motion for summary
disposition. (Doc. 39).

l. Background

Plaintiff owed a debt to Citibank. itibank retained the Bsey Defendants to

collect this debt. The Bursdyefendants pulled Plaiiff's credit report and sent Plaintiff

a letter. Citibank then endethe Bursey Defendantshgagement and retained the

Seidberg Defendants to collect the debt.
The Seidberg Defendants séwb letters to Plaintifiand pulled Plaintiff's credit
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report. Plaintiff requested validation of the debt. The Seidberg Defendants proyide

certain information to Plairifi in response, including anffalavit of Marianne Davis.
The Seidberg Defendants then filed a Icsollection action in state court and sent
Plaintiff a third lettet: The Seidberg Defendants prevdiie the state collection action
Judgment was entered in favor of Citibaagainst Plaintiff and his spouse in the
principal amount of $6,139.58ys $231.00 in taxable costs.

Plaintiff then filed the case currently mming before this Court. This Court
dismissed the original compta because it failed to stateclaim for relief, but granted
leave to amend. (Doc. 31)Plaintiff timely filed an Amaded Complaint. (Doc. 32).
Plaintiffs Amended Complaintlieges four causes of actioft) violations of the Fair
Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA); (2)lations of the Fair Credit Reporting Actj
(3) Invasion of Privacy; and (4) Negégt, Wanton, and Intentional Conduct.
[I.  Summary Disposition

The Bursey Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Disposition. (Doc. 39.) Init,
the Bursey Defendants argue this Court sthauhnt their Motion to Dismiss pursuant to
Local Rule of Civil Procedure 7.2(i). Rule2(i) permits the Court to deem Plaintiff's
failure to “serve and file” a response tetBursey Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss 38s
Plaintiff's consent to that Motion. HowewdPlaintiff timely served a response (Doc. 42)
on all parties.$eeDoc. 39 at 1-2; Doc. 44.) Plaintiffiatent clearly is not to consent to
the Bursey Defendants’ Motion to DismissTherefore, the Court denies summaly
disposition.
[Il1. Federal Pleading Requirements

The Court may dismiss a complaint for faguo state a claim under Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for two reasons) (&ck of a cognizde legal theory; or
(2) insufficient facts alleged der a cognizable legal theofyalistreri v. Pacifica Police
Dep’t, 901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cit990). To survive a 12J{6) motion for failure to

! with the exception of thithird letter sent by the SeidigeDefendants, Plaintiff's
account of the factual background does noeappo differ from hisriginal complaint.
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state a claim, a compid must meet the requirementskg#deral Rule o€ivil Procedure
8(a)(2). Rule 8(a)(2) requires“short and plain statement thfe claim showing that the
pleader is entitled to relief,” so that the defanidhas “fair notice of what the . . . claim is
and the grounds upon which it rest8ell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombjyb50 U.S. 544, 555
(2007) (quotingConley v. Gibson355 U.S. 41, 47 (1957)).

Although a complaint attaekl for failure to state elaim does not need detailed

factual allegations, the pleader’s obligatitsn provide the grounds for relief require

(7]

“more than labels and conclosis, and a formulaic recitatiaf the elements of a caus

112

of action will not do.” Twombly 550 U.S. at 555 (internalitations omitted). Rule

—h

8(a)(2) “requires a ‘showing,’ rather than aaiitet assertion, of entitlement to relie

Without some factual allegation in the comptaihis hard to see how a claimant could
satisfy the requirement of providing not onlyiffaotice’ of the nature of the claim, bul
also ‘grounds’ on which the claim restsld. (citing 5 C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal
Practice and Procedure 812Q#. 94, 95 (3d ed. 2004)).Thus, Rule 8's pleading
standard demands more than “an unaddr the-defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me
accusation.”Ashcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662678 (2009) (citingTwombly 550 U.S. at
555).

In deciding a motion to dismiss underl®d2(b)(6), the Court must construe the
facts alleged in the complaim the light most favorable tthe drafter of the complaint
and the Court must accept all well-pleaded factual allegations asSeeeShwarz v.
United States234 F.3d 428, 435 (9th Cir. 2000Nonetheless, the Court does not haye
to accept as true a legal conclusion couched as a factual alledrdmasan v. Allain
478 U.S. 265286 (1986).

V. Dismissal of the Amended Complaint

All of the allegations inthe Amended Complaint areade against the Seidberg

Defendants. Some allegatioam® additionally alleged against the Bursey Defendants fand

Citibank. The Court will disgss the Seidberg and Bursegfendants together becauge

of their similar nature (law firms acting akebt collectors) and will discuss Citibank
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separately.

A.  TheUnderlying Debt

In the Amended ComplaintPlaintiff twice argues that “it must be legally
concluded that the debt wasvee owed by the Plaintiff.” (Dac32 at 6, 7). But as thg
Court noted in its Order dismissing thesfi complaint, Citibank has won a judgmel
against Plaintiff in state coufor the underlying debt. (Doc. 31 at 1 n.1). Thus, a st
court has already “legally concluded” that the dslitwed by Plaintiff. This Court “has
no authority to review the fihaeterminations of a statewrt in judicial proceedings.”
Worldwide Church of God v. McNai805 F.2d 888, 890 (9th Cir. 1986).

In his responses to the Defendants’ motimndismiss, Plaintifisks this Court to
disregard the state judgment. (DdO at 6; Doc. 41 at 5; Dod2 at 7). This the Court
cannot do. “Federal courts studetermine that they haygisdiction before proceeding
to the merits.”Lance v. Coffmgn549 U.S. 437, 439 (2007).“A federal court is
presumed to lack jurisdiction in a partiaulcase unless the contrary affirmative
appears.”Stock West, Inc. v. Confederatédbes of the Colville Reservatip873 F.2d
1221, 1225 (9th Cir1989). Under th&®ooker-Feldmamloctrine, “a federal district court
does not have subject matter gatiction to hear a direct appeal from the final judgms
of a state court.’Noel v. Hal| 341 F.3d 1148, 1154 (9th IC003). In its Motion to
Dismiss, Citibank argues that this Coisr without subjecmatter jurisdictiorf. Citibank
was entitled to attach and rely upon a copythaf state court judgment in making th
argument.Thornhill Pub. Co., Inc. v. Ge Tel. & Electronics Corp.594 F.2d 730, 733
(9th Cir. 1979). To the exteRtaintiff asks this Court tind he does not owe a debt t
Citibank, the state court judgment deprives tGourt of subject matter jurisdiction tq
hear such a claim.Accordingly, any such claim by Plaintiff is dismissed as to

Defendants.

2 Although Citibank chs its motion a Rulel2(b)(6) motion, thékooker-Feldman
ortloglof {ts2 ar%ument challenges this Gupurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1)Sée also
oc. 31 at 2 n.

Seidberg Defendants” motion tosdiiss the originatomplaint orres judicatagrounds).
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B. The Seidber g and Bursey Defendants

All four counts are alleged againstetibeidberg and Burseyefendants. The
allegations are addressed below in the otldey appear in tnAmended Complaint.

1. Count 1: Fair Debt Collection Practices Act

Section 1692e(2)(A). The Amended Complaint alleges the Seidberg and Bul
Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(3)(By falsely representing the characte
amount, or status of a debt in letters trent Plaintiff. As to how the Defendant
violated § 1692e(2)(A), Plaintiff is no moreesgific than stating it the letters falsely

represented the “Real party of interest.” (D82 at 8.) This isa mere “formulaic

recitation of the elements of a cause ofatti and is insufficient to state a claim for

relief. Twombly 550 U.S. at 558.

Section 1692e(11). Plaintiff alleges the Seidberg Defendants violated 15 U.S.

8§ 1692e(11) by sending Plaintdfletter on February 24, 201iBat failed to disclose the
communication was from a debt collector andtthh was an attempb collect a debt.
(Doc. 32 at 8-9.) Accordingp the Amended Complaint, this was the third letter from {

Seidberg Defendants attempting to collect the déltaf 7.) The Seidberg Defendants

initial communication with Plaintiff wasa letter sent December 14, 201Id. (at 6.)

Under § 1692e(11), onfthe initial written communication” isequired to disclose “that
the debt collector is attempting to collect didend that any inforation obtained will be
used for that purpose.” Subsequent comiations, like the February 24 letter, neg

only identify “that the communication is from a debt collectdd.” Although Plaintiff

_ ® Plaintiff did not address how the Seidip@®efendants violated § 1692e(2)(A) i
his Response to the Seidberg Defendantstidvioto Dismiss, bute did refer to and
attach a copy of the Seidbdbgfendants’ letter, dated February 24, 2012. (Doc. 40 at
10.) The Court may considensghdocument because: (1) thexrg@aint refers to it; (2) it
Is central to Plaintiff’'s claim; an(B) no party disputes its authenticityarder v. Lopez
450 F.3d 445, 448 (9th Ci2006). The Court notes thatettetter represents Plaintifi

owed a debt of $6370.58 tatiBank, N.A., and that the ate {'(udgment awarded $6370.58

($6139.58 in principalplus $231.00 in costs) toitbank, N.A. (Doc. 35-1 at 3.)
SlmllarIY{_ Plaintiff attached a copy tiie Bursey Defendantétter, dated August
24, 2011, to his Response to the BurseyebDaants’ Motion to Dismiss the origina
complaint. (Doc. 22 at 11.)The Bursey letter representsatiPlaintiff owed a debt of
$6139.58, the exact amount of the principal awarded to Citibank in the state court.
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did not identify in the Amended Complaint what languagpes used in the letter, he
attached a copy of the lettto his Response to thei@®erg Defendants’ Motion to
Dismiss. The letter plainly states the dbamrg Defendants’ were “acting as a de
collector.” (Doc. 40 at Ex. 1D Thus, Plaintiff's factuaallegations are unsupported b
the evidence Plaintiff has putfoee the Court. Accordinglythis claim will be dismissed
because Plaintiff has failed to statel@m based on the evidence of rec@deSteckman
v. Hart Brewing, InG.143 F.3d 1293, 1295-96 (9th Ci©98) (“[W]e are not required to
accept as true conclusory géions which are contradictdyy documents referred to in
the complaint.”).

Section 1692e(9). Plaintiff alleges the Seidberg Defendants’ “mailing of t
Affidavit of Marianne Davis wa a false and misleading repeagation in violation of [15
U.S.C. § 1692¢(9)] in that it simulated lawfarbcess of a court of the State of Missou
creating a false impression as to its auttadion to the PLAINTIFF.” (Doc. 32 at 9.
Section 1692e(9) prohibits the “use ostdbution of any writta communication which
simulates or is falsely represented to be a document authoszeddj or approved by
any court . . . of the United States or any &tatThis Court has already found that, as
general matter, an affidavit is not “simulatiesful process.” (Doc. 31 at 8.) Howevel
Plaintiff alleges this particular affidavit pg@eared on the [sic] ¢ to the PLAINTIFF
that it was a law suit [sic] filed in Missouri(Doc. 32 at 9.) The Seidberg Defendants
not address this allegation in their Mwti to Dismiss, instead characterizing t
Amended Complaint's FOPA allegations asidentical to those assertéth the original
Complaint. (Doc. 34 at 5)

For Plaintiff to state a claim under 8 2&99), he must allege that “the lea

sophisticated debtor would likely be misled” by this affidai&von v. Law Offices of

* In their Motion to Dismiss, the Sdidrg Defendants enumerate five “ne

FDCPA allegations” that are not identical te thriginal Complaintand argue that these

“new” allegations are insufficierid state a claim. These five allegations are not repe:
here because the Court agrees none emtlstate a claim. However, the factu
allegation that the affidavit had the facipl@arance of a lawsuit was not one of the fi
“new” allegations the Seidbg Defendants addressed.
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Sidney Micke|l 688 F.3d 1015, 1027 (9th Cir. 2018ge also Zimmerman v. Portfolig
Recovery Associates, LL.276 F.R.D. 174 (S.D.N.Y. 20).1 Here, Plaintiff's allegation

that the affidavit’s facial gpearance simulated lawful pr@seof a Missouri state court i$

sufficient to state a claim.Accordingly, the Seidberg Bendants’ motion to dismiss thig
claim will be denied.

Section 1692f(1). The Amended Complaint'siext allegation accuses al
defendants of violating 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692f{ly “attempt[ing] to collect an amount thg
was not . .. permitted by law.” (Doc. 32 a} 9However, as discussed above, the st
court judgment establishes that the debs valid and its collection was permitted
law. This Court lacks jurigction to decide otherwise.

Section 1692g(b). With respect tothe Seidberg Defendants, the Amend
Complaint next alleges a violation of 13.S.C. § 1692g(b). Under 8§ 1692¢g(a), a
consumer may dispute and request verificatdf a debt from a debt collector withif

thirty days of receiving an initial comumication. If the consumer requests su

verification, 8§ 1692g(b) requires the delobllector to “cease collection of the

debt . . . until the debt collector obtains fiedation of the debt...and a copy of sug
verification . . . is mailed to the consumgy the debt collector.” Here, the Seidbe
Defendants sent Plaintiff anifial communication on Decembé#, 2011. (Doc. 32 at 6.)
Plaintiff requested verification from the i8berg Defendants on January 3, 2014.)(

The Seidberg Defendants sent Plaintiff andaffit verifying the debbn January 5, 2012,
(Id. at 7.) Instead of “showgi that the Seidberg Defenadis violated § 1692g(b), the
Amended Complaint searto show the Seidberg Defendants dutifully adhered to

statute’s timing.

However, Plaintiff does take issueithv the sufficiency of the Seidberg

> The Seidberg Defendants attached tffelavit to a prior motion to dismiss.
(Doc. 4-1 at 7-11). Becausesthmended Complaint refers tioe affidavit, it is central
to Plaintiff's claim, and ngarty disputes its authenticitgeeMarder, 450 F.3d at 448,
and additionally because it entral to Plaintiffs § 168g(b) claim, the Court has
reviewed the affidavit. Unlike Plaintiff'slaim under § 1692e(11), the evidence offer
by Defendants supports Plaintiff's allegation.
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Defendants’ verification. Plaiiff alleges the affidavit “was not validation of a debt
(Doc. 32 at 7.) Under 8§ 1692¢g(Bverification of a debt imolves nothingnore than the
debt collector confirming in writing that tlmount being demanded is what the credif
is claiming is owed.Clark v. Capital Credit &Collection Services, Inc460 F.3d 1162,
1173-74 (9th Cir. 2006).The affidavit plainly confirms, in writing, that “$6,139.58 i
due and owing” to Citiink. (Doc. 4-1 at &) Accordingly, this claim will be dismissed
because Plaintiff has failed to state aiml based on the @lence of recordSee
Steckman143 F.3d at 1295-96.

Section 1692¢(10), (13). Under 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10), the “use of any fa
representation or deceptiveeans to collect or attempd collect any debt” from a
consumer is prohibited. Section 1692e(}8phibits the “false representation g
implication that documents are legal procesBlaintiff alleges that the affidavit sent by
the Seidberg Defendants “appeared on the'fdao be a “law suit filed in Missouri.”
(Doc. 32 at 9.) As discussed above with eesgo § 1692e(9), this factual allegation
sufficient to state a claim and is not adsed in the Seidberg Defendants’ Motion
Dismiss. Dismissal of the § 1692¢e(10) ##l692e(13) allegatiorsgainst the Seidberg
Defendants is denied.

Failure to Produce a Contract. The Amended Complaint alleges the Seidbe
and Bursey Defendants areviolation of § 1692e(2)(A), (5)(10), and (13) if they do
not produce a contrabetween all Defendants.(Doc. 32 at 9—10.) These subsections
8 1692e prohibit debt collectors from makiegrtain types of misrepresentations
connection with the collection of a debt. Rtdf does not explain how failure to produc
the requested contract results in a violatbrthe cited subsections of § 1692e, and it

not apparent from the statute how such aatioh could occur. Thus, this allegation

® The affidavit is properly before the CouBee supraote 5.
’ Subsections (2)(A¥, (10), dr(13) of § 1692e are disssed above. Subsection (4

rohibits debt collectors from communicating a “threat to take any action that cé
egally be taken or that ot intended to be taken.”
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lacks a cognizablkgal theory.
2. Count 2: Fair Credit Reporting Act

Failureto Produce a Contract. As in Count 1, Plairfi alleges the Seidberg ang
Bursey Defendants are in vation of 15 U.S.C. § 1681and § 1681q if they canno;
produce a contract between all defendants. (B@at 10.) Sectivn1681b describes the
circumstances under which comser reports may be requedtfrom consumer reporting
agencies. Section 1681q pmabes fines and imprisonmeiatr a “persorwho knowingly
and willfully obtains information on a comser from a consumer reporting agency und
false pretenses.” As before, Plaintiff doest explain, and it isot apparent, how the
failure to produce a contrattetween all Defendants results in a violation of theg
sections. This allegation lagla cognizable legal theory.

Unauthorized Consumer Report. The Amended Compldiralleges the Bursey
Defendants violated 15 U.S.€.1681b(f) by accessing Pl&ifis Experian credit report,
and the Seidberg Defendant®lated 8 1681b(f) by accesg Plaintiff’'s TransUnion
credit report. (Doc. 32 at 10-11.) SectitdB1lb(f) provides a “pspn shall not use or

obtain a consumer report for any purpose unlesshe consumer report is obtained for|

purpose for which the consumer report is autteal to be furnished under this section|

Both the Bursey Defendants and the Seidlizfendants argue they were authorized
8 1681b(a)(3)(A) to obtain Plaiff's consumer report.SeeDoc. 34 at 8-9; Doc. 36 al
5.) That section permits a consumer repgrtagency to furnish a consumer report tg

person whom the agency has reason to \eligntends to use the information ir

connection with a credit trang#on involving the consumer on whom the information |i

to be furnished and involving . . . collectiohan account of, theonsumer.” 15 U.S.C. §
1681b(a)(3)(A).

The Ninth Circuit has held the use afconsumer report is permissible und
8 1681b(a)(3)(A) if two conditions are met: the consumer is “involved” in the credi
transaction; and (2) the report is used fire extension of credit to, or review o

collection of an account of, the consumeé®ifitos v. Pac. Creditors Ass'605 F.3d 665,
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674 (9th Cir. 2010). Here, Plaintiff helcceedit account with Citiank and was thereforg

“involved” as a “participant in the typicdtansaction where an extension of credit |i

requested.”ld. at 675. It is undisputed thahe Bursey and Seidberg Defendan
requested Plaintiff's consumer reportassist with “collection of an accourft.”Thus,
even if Plaintiff's factual allegations are true (i.e., that the Defendants accesse
consumer reports), he has failed to statdaim upon which relief can be granted.

In the same paragraphs, the Amendsmmplaint also allges the Bursey and
Seidberg Defendants “failled] to obtain a gexheor specific certification” pursuant tg
8§ 1681b(f)(2). (Doc. 32 at 10-11.) Sectid&81b(f)(2) requires person requesting g
consumer report to certify to the consumeporting agency that the request is bei
made for a permissible purgos In other words, 8§ Bab(f)(2) required Defendants tc
make a certification tehe consumer reporting agencies—not “obtain a . . . certificati
fromthe agencies. This allegation thereflacks a cognizable legal theory.

3. Count 3: Invasion of Privacy

dh

Plaintiff alleges the Seidberg and Bey Defendants invaded his privacy i
violation of Arizona common law. However aiitiff makes no factual allegations as
how Defendants invaded his privacy other thaferring to the allegations “as describe
in this Complaint.” (Doc. 3zt 12.) Plaintiff has not alleged any illegal or invasi
conduct by the Bursey or Seidberg DeferidanThus, Count 3 fis to allege facts
sufficient to state a claim unda cognizable legal theory.

4, Count 4: Negligent, Wanton, and I ntentional Conduct

The Amended Complaint makes the gdleon in Count 4 in one concluson
sentence: “Defendants invaded the privacy afrfilff as set forth in Arizona law.” (Doc.
32 at 13.) Count 4 fails to state a claintdnese a complaint requires “more than labg

and conclusions.Twombly 550 U.S. at 555.

~ ® The state court judgment and the afiidlaboth properly before the Court
affirmatively establish that Rintiff was involved in a @dit transaction with Citibank
and that Defendants’ consumer report request® in connection with “collection of ar
account.”
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C.  Citibank
In his Response to Citibank’s Motion to Dissy Plaintiff admits Counts 2, 3, an
4 are not alleged against Citibank. (Doc. 41@&) In Count 1the Amended Complaint

only mentions Citibank with respect to thrallegations, all arising under the FDCPA,

Citibank argues the entire Amended Compglahould be dismissed as “inextricably

intertwined” with a stateaurt judgment barred by tHeooker-Feldmardoctrine. (Doc.
35 at 5-6.) Alternatively, Citibank arguesu® 1's allegations against Citibank shou
be dismissed because Citibank is not abtdcollector” withinthe meaning of the
FDCPA, and in any event, Plaintiff has failedallege Citibank egaged in any conduct
in violation of the FDCPA.

The Court has already found the thrélegations made against Citibank fail t
state a claim against the BaysDefendants or the SeidbeDgfendants. These thre
allegations are made nofféirently against Citibank® Because the allegations fail o
this basis, the Court declines to addr€ssbank’s arguments that it is not a “del
collector” under the FDCPA andahthis entire action is “ingricably intertwined” with
the state court action.

The Amended Complaint will be dismissedits entirety as to Citibank and thg

° The three alleqations_ agat Citibank are: (1) Citibik attempted to collect &
debt not permitted by law imiolation of 15 US.C. § 1692f$1); (2) Citibank failed ta
cease debt collection activities after recajvia request for verification, violatin
3216%%%);) and (3) Citibankifad to produce a contract between all defendants. (

at 9-10.

' Although Plaintiffs 15 U.S.C. § 1692n) allegation allege Citibank “never
validated the debt,” that statute only requites debt collector ttcease collection of the

Citibank, there is no allegation Citibaekerindependently attempted “collection of t
debt.” Plaintiff advances noebry of wcarlous_llaﬂlt{ Even if hehad advanced such
theory, the Seidberg Defendants complied with § 1692g(b).

1 Based on the evidence pesly before the Court, PHiiff's surviving allegation

debt” until verification is provided to theonsumer. Even if the FDCPA applieshE)

(that the Seidberg Defendants violated W35.C. 8§ 1692e by mailing a misleading
affidavit) does not appear to be “inextricalotyertwined” with the state court judgment.

The surviving allegation does nallege legal error by the state court, and this Court
adjudicate whether the Seidberg Defendantsaiteol 8§ 1692e without d|sturb|ngothe sta
court judgmentSee Kougasian v. TMSL, In859 F.3d 1136, 1142 (9th Cir. 2004).
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Bursey Defendants. All clais in the Amended Complaimtill be dismissed as to the
Seidberg Defendants with thexception of Plaintiff's allegation that the Seidbe
Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e by sapdRlaintiff an affidavit that appeared t
Plaintiff to be a lawsuit filed in Missouri.
V. Further Leaveto Amend

This Court sua spontegranted Plaintiff leave to amend after dismissing |
original Complaint because the Court abuhot conclude Platiff's claims were
incurable. (Doc. 31 at 8.) The substantial majority of Plaintiff's Amended Complaint
re-pleading of the same insufficient facts #&whl conclusions. Essentially, Plaintiff wa
able to sufficiently plead dy one claim because of orsentence buried deep in hi
fifteen-page Amended Complaint. Thuse t@ourt finds “that the pleading could ng
possibly be cured by thdlegation of other facts.Lopez v. Smith203 F.3d 1122, 1127
(9th Cir. 2000) (quotindgoe v. United State$8 F.3d 494, 497 (B Cir. 1995)). The
Court will not grant Plaintiff aother opportunity to amend.
VI. Conclusion

Based on the foregoing,

IT IS ORDERED denying the Bursey Defeants’ Motion for Summary
Disposition. (Doc. 39).

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED granting Citibank’s andhe Bursey Defendants’

Motions to Dismiss without fither leave to amend. ¢0s. 35 and 36.) Defendant

Bursey & Associates, P.CBarry Bursey, and Citibank, N.A. are dismissed with

prejudice.
111
111
111
111
111
111
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IT ISFURTHER ORDERED grantng in partand denyng in part he Seidbay
DefendantsMotion to Dismiss. Doc. 34.) All of Plaintiff's claims againsthe Seidbey
Defendantsare dismised with pejudice an without further le@e to amed except te
claim that be Seidbay Defendats violated15 U.S.C.8 1692e i mailing an allegedy
misleadingaffidavit. The Seidbey Defend@nts shall aswer withn fourteendays of tle
date of thisorder.

Datdl this 4th dy of Marc, 2013.

Q&&-\___

& James A. Teilborg
Senior United States District Judge
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